ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE TRANSPORTATI ON STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 23, 2006
1:35 p. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Charlie Huggins, Chair
Senat or John Cowdery, Vice Chair
Senator Gene Therri aul t

Senat or Al bert Kookesh

Senator Hollis French

MEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BI LL NO. 300
"An Act relating to the handling of negative equity in notor
vehi cl e transactions.”

HEARD AND HELD

SENATE BILL NO 273

"An Act relating to a nmotor vehicle dealer's selling or offering

to sell notor vehicles as new or current nodels or as new or

current nodel notor vehicles having manufacturer's warranties."
HEARD AND HELD

PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 300

SHORT TI TLE: MOTOR VEHI CLE NEGATI VE EQUI TY
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) SEEKI NS

02/ 14/ 06 (S) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 14/ 06 (S) TRA, L&C

02/ 23/ 06 (H) TRA AT 1:30 PM CAPI TOL 17

BILL: SB 273

SHORT TITLE. MOTOR VEH CLE SALES
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) COWDERY

02/ 08/ 06 (S) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 08/ 06 (S) TRA, L&C
02/ 23/ 06 (H TRA AT 1:30 PM CAPI TOL 17

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -1- February 23, 2006



W TNESS REG STER

Senat or Ral ph Seeki ns

Al aska State Legislature

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Sponsor of SB 300.

Brian Hove, Staff

to Senat or Ral ph Seekins

Al aska State Legislature

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions on SB 300.

Ryan Makinster, Staff

to Senat or John Cowdery

Al aska State Legislature

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented SB 273 and a proposed anendnent;
answer ed questi ons.

Carol Lyberger

Lyberger's Car and Truck Sal es

Anchor age, AK

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified that she was 100 percent in
support of SB 273.

Jon Cook, Legislative Director

Al aska Auto Deal ers Associ ati on;

General Manager, Aurora Mtors

Fai r banks, AK

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Stated strong support for SB 273 and the
proposed anmendnent .

St eve Sautner, Omner

Deal ers Auto Auction of Al aska

Anchor age, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Testified in support of SB 273, offering a
whol esal er' s perspecti ve.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CHAIR CHARLIE HUGE NS called the Senate Transportation Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 1:35:10 PM Present were Senators

SENATE TRA COWM TTEE - 2- February 23, 2006



John Cowdery, Hollis French and Chair Charlie Huggins. Senators
Al bert Kookesh and Gene Therriault arrived as the nmeeting was in
pr ogr ess.

SB 300- MOTOR VEHI CLE NEGATI VE EQUI TY

CHAI R HUGGE NS announced SB 300 to be up for discussion

SENATOR RALPH SEEKINS, Alaska State Legislature, sponsor
explained that SB 300 updates the definition of "principal
bal ance” in the Al aska Retail Install ment Sales Act to
accomopdat e the proper disclosure of negative equity. It also
clarifies how negative equity within a |ease arrangenent is
handl ed. At one tinme, lending institutions required borrowers
to nonetarily participate in purchase transactions. Down
paynents of 25 percent were common, and term | oans were held to
a maxi mum of 36 nonths. Over the last several years, however
t hese guidelines have gone by the wayside. The strength and
stability of the national econony have spurred consuners to
demand | ower - paynent | oans along with greater val ue.

He noted that banks, credit unions and acceptance conpani es have
accommodat ed the narketplace by offering |owdown or no-down
paynent options, as well as lengthening the allowable repaynent
period; this is particularly evident in retail auto sales, where
qualified buyers may opt for 100 percent financing over the
| ongest possible term As a result, the point in time at which
the vehicle's market value exceeds the outstanding bal ance on
the | oan occurs much later than it otherw se woul d.

SENATOR KOOKESH arrived at 1:40: 04 PM

SENATOR SEEKI NS continued, explaining that until this point is
reached, the owner's equity position is "upside down" or
"negative" - the auto's value is less than the renmaining | oan.
Wen the owner wants to trade for a different vehicle, a dealer
must figure out how to acconmodate the |oan payoff in the trade-
in. At one time, it was conmon practice in sone states to
sinply inflate the price of the car enough so the trade-in
covered the amount owed; the negative equity then disappeared.
However, it failed to describe the transaction nmathematically,
and this practice fell into disfavor over tine.

He noted that today new vehicles may be sold at non-negotiable
prices, such as when there is a factory incentive program
Furthernore, the Federal Reserve Board has provided guidance on
this issue through revisions to Regulations M and Z, which

SENATE TRA COWM TTEE - 3- February 23, 2006



control the manner in which lease and credit transactions,
respectively, are disclosed. Regulation M was revised to
provide a dedicated disclosure line on the |ease agreenent in
cases where a prior loan or |ease balance - negative equity - is
rolled in to the new |ease transaction. Regul ation Z was
revised to alter the definition of "down paynent," thereby
solving the negative-equity issue as it pertains to a |oan
transacti on, Senator Seekins reported.

He said the vast mjority of banks and credit wunions are
federally regulated and follow federal disclosure |aws; state
laws don't come into play. However, acceptance conpanies |ike
GVAC or Ford Motor Credit nust follow both federal and state
| aws. The dual - adherence requirenent has created a disparity in
the manner in which loan and |ease transactions are disclosed
when there is negative equity in Alaska. Wile federal |aw has
been revised to accommodate this situation, Senator Seekins
said, state | aw hasn't been.

He concluded, saying SB 300 resolves this disparity by updating
the definition of "principal balance" as it pertains to the
state's disclosure requirenents for retail sales contracts found

in Title 45, Chapter 10. It also adds correspondi ng | anguage to
Chapter 25 pertaining to the handling of negative equity wth
respect to |ease agreenents. These nodifications bring state
and federal law into alignnent and resolve the concern for

accept ance conpani es that do business in Al aska.
1:43: 03 PM

SENATOR COWDERY asked how dealers and car financing conpanies
currently address this situation.

SENATOR SEEKINS answered that they generally try to get

additional cash down paynents, for exanple. In his own
deal ership the previous week, a custoner had $19,000 in negative
equity on a vehicle; it was eight-year financing, and the
deal ership could do nothing to help. "If we sell the contract
to a bank, we're OK " he added. "W can't sell it to an
acceptance conpany." He pointed out that dealerships would

rat her do business with acceptance conpani es, through which they
get preferable interest rates and additional cash bonuses from
t he manuf acturer.

1:45: 11 PM

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -4- February 23, 2006



SENATOR COWDERY asked whether a loan would be nmade to an
individual if there was negative equity.

SENATOR SEEKINS replied that an outside |loan could be obtained,
but it's sonething nost deal erships don't |ike to do.

SENATOR CONDERY asked whether the change [proposed in the bill]
is for convenience or is cost-driven.

SENATOR THERRI AULT arrived at 1:46:13 PM

SENATOR SEEKINS answered that it is nmore to bring acceptance
conpani es under the same types of regulations and disclosures
that the federal governnment has, thereby allow ng acceptance
conpani es to conpete with banks on an equal footing.

SENATOR COWDERY asked if the Departnment of Law (DOL) supports
this bill.

SENATOR SEEKINS said he didn't believe [DO.] had been asked.
However, states commonly try to bring their laws into conpliance
[wth federal |aws], and npbst states' laws are now in conpliance
with Regulations M and Z. He added that [the bill] was
requested by the acceptance conpani es.

SENATOR COWNDERY offered his belief that the attorney general
wanted to testify on the bill, but wasn't avail abl e.

CHAI R HUGGE NS suggested hearing fromhimat a | ater date.

SENATOR SEEKINS indicated the attorney general hadn't expressed
an opinion to his office. In response to Chair Huggins, Senator
Seekins said he hadn't heard negative feedback from any of the
finance institutions.

CHAI R HUGGE NS asked about pros and cons for the custoners.

SENATOR SEEKI NS answered that the |oan would still be made based
on the custonmer’s ability to pay. Generally, a loan for a car
is an accommodation, trying to help the customer buy the car
that he or she wants. He said nost dealers can handl e contracts
t hrough banks, and this brings it dowm to a matter of equity.
There may be $1,000 additional cash for people working through
Ford Motor Credit, for exanple, but if there is negative equity,
the deal ership cannot help the custoner take advantage of that
under state | aw now.

SENATE TRA COW TTEE - 5- February 23, 2006



CHAIR HUGA NS posed a situation in which a custoner has $5, 000
in negative equity. He asked what allows a dealership to
| everage that to a customer's advant age.

1: 50: 24 PM

SENATOR SEEKINS noted that in the past, negative equity was
adjusted in the paperwork. Now the situation is disclosed and
yet it's financed anyhow, because t he custoner's
creditworthiness allows making those [larger] paynents. In
response to Chair Huggins and Senator French, he affirnmed that
currently it can be rolled over into new financing - but through
banks or credit unions, not acceptance corporations.

SENATOR FRENCH voi ced concern about people living beyond their
means, and reported reading in Forbes that the savings rate in
the U S. just went negative for the first tinme since 1933. He
said, however, this bill is nore a synptom than a cause, and he
sees no reason to harminstitutions doing business in Al aska.

He expressed interest in seeing Regulations M and Z. He al so
requested a handout that shows how the paperwork could be done
under the federal system but not the state system

1: 52: 50 PM

SENATOR  SEEKI NS i ndi cat ed he' d provi de t he request ed
i nformation.

SENATOR CONDERY asked whether [a dealer] can nake a cash loan to
an i ndi vi dual .

SENATOR SEEKINS answered that he could, but doesn't. He
expl ai ned, "Part of our agreenment with nost finance institutions
is, we don't loan noney as part of their down paynent. ... W
disclose it as what it is." He said on a |lease transaction, if

not properly disclosed, the negative equity could be terned -
wi thout the definition in Regulation M- as a personal |oan and
then not be properly disclosed. Therefore, the federa
government changed its process of disclosure in a |ease
transaction so that it is not a personal | oan.

He pointed out that for every loan on a vehicle, there's a
decision that the finance institution nakes: Does the person
have enough disposable inconme to make those nonthly paynents?
If so, and if the person has a good credit history, there is a
willingness to finance an "upside down" or negative-equity

SENATE TRA COWM TTEE - 6- February 23, 2006



si tuation. It isn't considered a personal loan, and is still a
transaction on the car.

1:54:33 PM
SENATOR CONDERY observed that it seens |ike a personal | oan.

SENATOR SEEKINS said many cars have negative equity for the
first two or three years after purchase. He noted that so-
called gap insurance is sold in the marketpl ace today: if the
vehicle is totaled, the loan is paid off, even though the car's
val ue doesn't equal what is owed.

1: 55: 53 PM

CHAIR HUGA NS asked what a dealer could do for soneone wth
$5,000 in negative equity.

SENATOR SEEKI NS explained that there are three ways to help a
custonmer "get out of that car": cash, having enough margin in
the new vehicle to nake up nost or all of it, or financing the
negative equity. First, as the dealer he'd determne the car's
actual cash value - wholesale value - to him he'd also
determine what is owed. |If there's a $5,000 gap, but a $3,000
"markup in the car," he may allow $1,500 of that markup "to go
back into the vehicle." This leaves only a $1,500 gap. At that
point, if the customer is creditwrthy, the dealer mght not
request nore of a down paynent, or else the custoner m ght pay a
$1,500 down paynent. That would put the custoner at 100 percent
financing on the new vehicle.

He noted that if the dealer can find a finance institution
willing to finance $1,500 nore than it otherw se woul d, because
of the custoner's creditworthiness, then the dealer - if he
properly discloses it - can have that negative equity financed,
provided it's through a bank or credit union, under federal |aw

1: 57: 36 PM

SENATOR SEEKINS, in response to Chair Huggins, said all the
options are available to a dealer. Al he's doing [wth SB 300]
is bringing the acceptance corporations under the sane
regul ations as the federal banks and credit unions. However, a
custonmer may end up paying nore in interest, or mght not be
able to get a bonus incentive from the acceptance corporation.
In some cases, incentives from acceptance corporations provide
an additional $1,000 that the custoner could apply to the down

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -7- February 23, 2006



paynent, he noted. Having it equal in terns of disclosure can
sonetimes be a benefit for the buyer, he suggest ed.

1:59: 47 PM

BRIAN HOVE, Staff to Senator Ralph Seekins, Alaska State
Legislature, offered to answer questions during Senator Seekins'
bri ef absence.

SENATOR COWERY asked, in essence, whether the interest for
financing a $5,000 equity gap would be the sanme as the financing
for a new car.

MR. HOVE answered that it's the same contract. The custoner
woul d be paying off the old contract and rolling it into a new
one - a single contract with one set of terns and conditions,
i ncluding interest.

2:00: 47 PM

CHAIR HUGGE NS recalled there are variables, however, and the
institution could change the interest rate, for exanple.

MR. HOVE answered that it comes down to expanding options for
the buyer with regard to financing sources. He suggested this
offers the buyer an opportunity to get a better deal, since
acceptance corporations aren't included currently.

2:02: 05 PM

SENATOR SEEKINS added that this came as a request from "the
| egal departnment.” He said several acceptance corporations want
this clarified so that they're clearly on an equal footing [with
banks and credit unions].

CHAIR HUGA NS advised that he'd see about the availability of
the attorney general [to testify at the next hearing], and would
determ ne whether banking institutions want to offer their
perspective as well.

SENATOR FRENCH indicated when the attorney general is present
he'd like to hear whether this is a good idea and perhaps should
be done for hone sales as well.

2:02: 43 PM

SENATE TRA COWM TTEE - 8- February 23, 2006



CHAIR HUGGE NS pointed out that homes normally appreciate over
ti me, whereas autonobiles depreciate rapidly.

SENATOR SEEKINS reiterated his intent to put all those finance
institutions on an equal footing in terns of full disclosure.
[ SB 300 was hel d over. ]

CHAIR HUGA NS cal l ed a brief at-ease.

SB 273- MOTOR VEHI CLE SALES

CHAI R HUGGE NS announced SB 273 to be up for consideration

SENATOR COWDERY, sponsor, advised nenbers of a proposed
anendnent to the bill, to amend Section 1, page 1, line 11, to
delete "for sales in this state" and add, after "vehicle", the
phrase "pursuant to which the dealer's area of responsibility is
| ocated within the State of Al aska". He deferred to his staff
for an expl anati on.

SENATOR FRENCH obj ected for discussion purposes.

RYAN MAKI NSTER, Staff to Senator John Cowdery, Alaska State
Legi slature, explained that in 2004, HB 272 was passed wth

regard to unscrupul ous advertising or sales practices. Sone
people were selling slightly wused cars as new, or were
anbi guously claimng that they were new cars. In that bill and

sonme other legislation, AS 08.66.015 was changed, becom ng nore
far-reaching than intended. The legislation had "current nodel"”
to deal with this problem M. Mkinster noted. However, many
people trade in vehicles soon after buying them The | anguage
prohi bited sale of a current-nodel vehicle for any reason unless
it had a manufacturer's certificate of origin. Under current
law, a vehicle would have to be held by a dealer until the next
year's nodel was introduced.

He said this law isn't being enforced. It would be a bad
business practice for dealerships and, according to the
Departnent of Law (DCOL), would hurt the consuner overall. For
exanple, M. Mkinster said, a serviceman going overseas

woul dn't be able to turn in a car because no deal ership would
want to pay for that car and have it sit on the lot until the
next year's nodel cane out.

He explained that SB 273 therefore renoves "current nodel" from

statute. Thus a new vehicle can be sold only if in possession
of the certificate of origin and if the dealer has the

SENATE TRA COWM TTEE - 9- February 23, 2006



manufacturer's sales and service agreenent. "So basically a
manuf act urer-deal er can only sell new cars,” he added. "A used-
car deal er, under no circunstance, can sell a new car." He said
this protects the consuner because it doesn't allow a used-car
deal er to purport that a used car is new.

2:08:12 PM

CHAIR HUGE NS asked whether registration provides the primary
evi dence that a car isn't new.

MR. MAKINSTER said the nmanufacturer's certificate of origin
remains with the car until registered; it is then relinquished
to the state's departnent of notor vehicles and the car
automatically becones a used car. That is how it occurs in nost
states. Sone states, however, have nore anbi guous stat utes.

CHAI R HUGGE NS requested clarification about what woul d change.

MR. MAKI NSTER answered that it wouldn't change anything being
done right now. The statute as witten isn't being enforced,
which is why DOL has requested this change. If it were
enforced, a vehicle mght have to sit on a dealer's lot until
t he next nodel year cane out.

2:10:21 PM

SENATOR COWDERY related his wunderstanding that the attorney
general's office said, if this were enforced, there would be
about a $5,000 fine for every transaction.

MR. MAKI NSTER concurred, but clarified that the fine would apply
to every attenpt to sell, which <could attach even to
advertisenents.

SENATOR FRENCH requested clarification on whether there is a

prohibition on selling it at all, or if the person just cannot
sell it as a current-nodel vehicle.

2:12: 30 PM

MR. MAKI NSTER responded that, according to DOL, the prohibition
is on selling it - because "current nodel” isn't defined in
statute, it can be interpreted as an inability to sell a

current - nodel vehicl e.

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -10- February 23, 2006



SENATOR FRENCH remarked that it seens to go along with the
letter fromM. Sniffen [of DOL, in packets].

MR. MAKINSTER, in response to Chair Huggins, said the change
[proposed in the anmendnent offered by Senator Cowdery] was at
the request of the auto dealers association; it was received
only two days ago. He reported that DOL believes it is a good
change.

He informed nenbers that M. Sniffen of DOL, who would testify
at the next commttee hearing, said this new |anguage is
probably better because "sales in this state" 1is sonmewhat
anbi guous with regard to dealers in other states, who m ght have
agreenents with the manufacturer to have Alaska under their
unbrella of responsibility. M. Mkinster also noted that
M. Sniffen said this is nostly a matter of style, but also
clarifies what "sales in the state" neans.

CHAIR HUGE NS brought up the issue of Canadian dealers in
particul ar.

MR. MAKI NSTER said that was what the original bills dealing with
this matter were trying to address. He relayed that M. Sniffen
said it has been resolved through other |egislation. "This is
basically cl eanup | anguage,” M. Makinster added.

2:15:55 PM

CHAI R HUGE NS asked if [SB 273] would have any negative inpacts
for the buyer.

MR. MAKI NSTER said he didn't believe so; according to DOL, this
woul d actually help consunmers, who would be allowed to buy a car
and turn a car in. As for wused-car dealers, he noted that
Section 2 repeals [AS 08.66.015(b)], which reads:

(b) A person who does business as a dealer in the
state may not offer to sell or sell a notor vehicle as
a new or current nodel notor vehicle having a
manufacturer's warranty unl ess

(1) the dealer has a current sales and service
agreenent with the manufacturer and the agreenent
requires the deal er, upon denmand of the notor vehicle
buyer, to perform or arrange for, within a reasonable
distance of the dealer's place of business in the
state, the repair and replacenent work required of the
manuf act urer under the warranty; or

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -11- February 23, 2006



(2) the dealer offers to give the buyer a rebate
to cover the repair and replacenent work that the
dealer cannot perform or arrange for wthin a
reasonabl e di stance of the dealer's place of business.

He pointed out that soneone could have a used current-nodel
vehicle, and that a used car <could have a manufacturer's
warranty. The existing |language limts purchasing options for a
buyer. Thus the bill allows consuners to buy new but slightly
used cars from a wder range of dealers, not just newcar
deal ers.

2:17:15 PM

CHAIR HUGA NS observed that the bill allows a person to transfer
a warranty when selling a car.

MR, MAKI NSTER concurr ed.
CHAI R HUGGE NS opened public testinony.

CAROL LYBERGER, Lyberger's Car and Truck Sales, Anchorage, said
this bill is a good change and just cleans up an old |aw She
offered an exanple, saying this will nake every dealership in
conpliance with state |aw She expressed 100 percent support.
In response to Chair Huggins, she indicated she believes it is
friendly to both custonmers and deal ers.

2:21: 02 PM

JON COOK, Legislative Director, Al aska Auto Deal ers Associ ation

Cener al Manager , Aurora Mbdtors, Fai r banks, informed the
commttee that he strongly supports SB 273 and the proposed
amendnent . He said it can't be overstated how beneficial this
iS. Agreeing this is a housekeeping issue - since dealers in
Al aska are technically out of conpliance with state |law and yet
it isn'"t enforced - he noted that it would be detrinental to

consuners if the current |law were enforced, which could happen
soneday if the statute renmained on the books. He specified that
repeal of subsection (b) also would be nost wel cone.

SENATOR FRENCH asked how many cars cone back after the first
year of their sale.

MR COOX replied that his dealership gets perhaps a dozen a

year, and he believes several hundred are returned each year in
Al aska. In response to Chair Huggins, M. Cook noted that his

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -12- February 23, 2006



organi zation's nenbership includes the vast majority of new and
used-car dealers in Al aska. He has worked on this issue for
nore than a year, but hasn't heard objections. He suggested it
woul d hel p used-car dealers especially, since they cannot sell a

current-nodel vehicle at all under the existing statute. He
i ndicated he couldn't see any negative inpacts on custoners, but
there would be nany problens under the current statute, |if

enforced, including a worsening of the negative-equity situation
di scussed earlier in the neeting.

STEVE SAUTNER, Owner, Dealers Auto Auction of Al aska, Anchorage,
expressed support for SB 237. He expl ained that wholesalers
would like to be in conpliance with state | aw because they sel
new, previously owned vehicles, particularly repossessed
vehi cl es, deal er-consigned vehicles and rental vehicles, which
they'd like to sell as soon as possible. There are several
t housand such 2006 vehicles in Al aska, and deal ers cannot absorb
all of them This change is needed so dealers can be in
conpl i ance.

2:28: 03 PM

MR. SAUTNER, in response to Senator Cowdery, said about a third
of the vehicles he gets are repossessions; a third are dealer-
consi gned vehicles, including aged inventory and new car trade-
ins; and a third are rental vehicles and off-|ease vehicles. A
| ot of current-nodel-year vehicles are returned fromrental |ots
every year; many go to the Seattle markets now, but increasingly
they are |iquidated.

CHAIR HUGA NS asked about any drawbacks to dealers or custoners
fromthese proposed changes.

MR. SAUTNER replied that he isn't in the retail side of the
busi ness, but doesn't see any negatives from either side.

2:29:53 PM

[Cynthia Drinkwater of DOL inforned nenbers that she was on
tel econference to answer questions and that M. Sniffen would be
avai l abl e for future hearings.]

CHAI R HUGE NS asked whether anyone else wished to testify. He

announced that SB 273 would be held over. [ The proposed
amendnent was not adopt ed. ]

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -13- February 23, 2006



There being no further business to cone before the commttee,
Chair Huggins adjourned the House Transportation Standing
Comm ttee neeting at 2:31:29 PM

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -14- February 23, 2006



